
Meeting papers

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 4 December 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:26 November 2018     

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 4 December 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Clarke

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the committee.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 6.00pm on 28 
November 2018 (three clear working days before date of the meeting). 
Please send questions to the Democratic Services Unit, marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  

Chair

4  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 6.00pm on 28 November 2018 (three clear working 
days before the date of the meeting). Please send questions to the 
Democratic Services Unit marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke 
(email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

5  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

6  RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT DIRECTIONS AND WASTE 
TRANSFER UPDATE (Pages 5 - 10)

Wayne Lewis

7  TIPPING AWAY CONSULTATION (Pages 11 - 18) Andy Pritchard

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

8  COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL SERVICE REVIEW (Pages 19 - 24) Locke, Scott 
Williams

9  MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT (Pages 25 - 36) Louise 
Seabrook

10  QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Pages 37 - 42) Andy Pritchard

11  2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE AND DRAFT ACTION PLAN FOR 
2019/22 (Pages 43 - 56)

Wayne Lewis, 
Scott Williams

FOR INFORMATION

Committee meetings in 2019: -

12 February 2019
18 June 2019
8 October 2019
3 December 2019

All meetings start at 10am, and are held in the Cabinet Suite, Shire Hall, Gloucester, GL1 2TG. 

Membership –  Cllr Nigel Moor and Cllr Ray Theodoulou Cllr Sue Coakley (Cotswold District 
Council), Cllr Chris Coleman (Cheltenham Borough Council), Cllr Bruce Hogan (Forest of Dean 
District Council), Cllr Jim Mason (Tewkesbury Borough Council), Cllr Chris McFarling (Forest of 
Dean District Council), Cllr Tina Stevenson (Cotswold District Council) and Cllr Mark Williams 
(Tewkesbury Borough Council)

Co-Opted Members - Cllr George Butcher (Stroud District Council), Cllr Richard Cook (Gloucester 
City Council), Cllr Simon Pickering (Stroud District Council) and Cllr Terry Pullen (Gloucester City 
Council)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns  01452 328472, email 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324203/fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) Co-opted Members
Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils may each nominate up to two Co-opted 
Members to attend and participate in the Committee’s meetings. Co-opted Members may 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

take a full part in public debate where they are present, but may not vote.  In the event of 
the Committee discussing confidential “exempt” non–public items the general presumption 
is that co-opted members shall leave the meeting, although should a co-opted member 
make a case to stay, this may be waived at the Chairman’s discretion provided no voting 
member raises an objection. Co-opted Members may, in such circumstances, be asked to 
leave the meeting while the Chairman seeks views from Voting Members.

(d) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are asked to sign the attendance list.
2. Substitution of members – Where a substitute member takes the place of a 

committee member who is an executive member of the appointing partner authority 
the substitute member must also be a member of the executive.

3. Quorum - The quorum for a meeting shall be five committee members, which shall 
include at least one member appointed by each of the five different partner 
authorities. No business shall be transacted unless quorum is reached. If quorum is 
not reached within 30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be 
present during a meeting), the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and 
venue within five working days of the meeting or to a date determined by the 
Chairman.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee held on Tuesday 9 October 
2018 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Sue Coakley (Chairman)
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Richard Cook
Cllr Bruce Hogan
Cllr Jim Mason

Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Terry Pullen
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Mark Williams

Officers in attendance: Julie Davies, Wayne Lewis, Andy Pritchard, Roger Smith and Scott 
Williams

Apologies: Cllr George Butcher 

53. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

54. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

55. MEMBER QUESTIONS 
No member questions were received.

56. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2018 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairperson.

57. RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT AND WASTE TRANSFER UPDATE 
57.1 Wayne Lewis, Head of the Joint Waste Team, presented the report. He informed the 

committee that tenders had been received for the residual waste transfer to Javelin Park, 
and were in the process of being evaluated, but not yet at the position for award.

57.2 He also explained that the county council was proposing that a tipping away policy be 
developed and that this proposal would be considered at the council’s Cabinet meeting on 
10 October 2018.

57.3 A question was asked with regard to electricity generation at Javelin Park. However it was 
explained that Commercial Services were managing this process, not the Joint Waste 
Team, and that information would be sought from that team.
ACTION: Wayne Lewis

57.4 Information on the quantity and type of emissions when Javelin Park was at full capacity 
was requested. 
ACTION: Wayne Lewis

57.5 The committee agreed to note: -
 the progress on the construction of the EfW facility; 
 the progress on the procurement of waste transfer; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

 notes that a tipping away policy is, subject to a county council cabinet resolution, to 
be issued for consultation; and, 

 the progress on the evaluation of waste delivery options for Cheltenham Borough 
Council (CBC) and Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) to deliver residual waste to 
Javelin Park.

58. COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL (CDC) SERVICE REVIEW UPDATE 
58.1 Claire Locke, Group Manager Council Advisory Services Cotswold District Council (CDC), 

and Scott Williams, Contracts Manager Collection and Street Scene East Joint Waste 
Team, gave a detailed presentation of the work involved in the waste and recycling service 
review at CDC. (The presentation slides were uploaded to the council website and included 
in the minute book.)

58.2 The committee congratulated the team on the excellent research undertaken to support the 
service review. Members engaged in a detailed discussion of the review, particularly the 
learning points, and future proofing aspects. 

58.3 Members questioned whether all district councils should consider making arrangements for 
seasonal collection of green waste. It was felt that there was an appetite for this although it 
could be challenging given that the subscription would remain the same for the year. It was 
noted that this approach was already undertaken in Stroud District. It was also important to 
consider whether this would have a negative impact on the residual waste stream.

58.4 It was noted that a particular challenge for CDC was the distance needed for travel to 
service the North of the district. The review had considered whether it would be viable to 
build a satellite depot however the evaluation had demonstrated that the site would likely 
cost more than it would save.

58.5 It was suggested that it would be beneficial if future reviews reflected climate change 
targets. It was also felt that it was timely to consider electrifying the fleet in the longer term. 
It was noted that the annual recycling carbon index indicated that Gloucestershire was in 
the top 5. It was agreed that this report should be sent to committee members.
ACTION: Wayne Lewis

58.6 Members agreed that although it was good to see an increase in recycling, the overarching 
message remained to reduce, reuse and then recycle.

59. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS FINAL OUTTURN 2017/18 
59.1 Wayne Lewis, Head of the Joint Waste Team, presented the report. In response to a 

question regarding staffing vacancies he informed the committee that he would be looking 
to boost capacity over the coming months. However one of the factors to be considered 
was that historically the county council had funded these posts, and whether going forward 
these should be shared posts; was it time to do a wider review?

59.2 It was commented that it would be important to understand whether the partnership was 
operating equitably. 

59.3 The committee agreed to note the financial performance as contained in this report.

60. RECYCLING MARKETS AND END DESTINATIONS 
60.1 The committee held a detailed discussion on the Charter. All committee members agreed 

that we should do everything we could to make it as easy as possible to make recycling 
information available to the public. There was however no clear agreement across all 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

partnership members to sign up to the Charter. It was felt that there was insufficient 
information on the provenance of the organisation, and that it would be better to consider 
this matter again with more information.

60.2 The committee noted the update on the recycling commodities market.

61. HOUSEHOLD RECYCLING CENTRES EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 
61.1 Roger Smith, Contracts Manager (HRCs, Recycling and Disposal), gave a detailed 

presentation of the report. 

61.2 There was some disquiet with the identified alternative location for when a HRC would be 
closed in that there would be some distance to travel. It was noted that the Swindon Road, 
Cheltenham site was not included in these changes. The Joint Waste Team and 
Cheltenham Borough Council agreed to discuss options for the future.

61.3 In response to questions it was explained that employee contractual issues would be 
managed by Ubico as the employer.

61.4 It was commented that there had not been any consultation with Stroud District Council on 
this matter. 

61.5 Members were concerned that these changes would increase the potential for fly-tipping 
and requested that this situation be closely monitored.

62. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT 
The committee noted the financial performance as contained in the report.

63. QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
The committee was informed that there had been a modest increase in recycling rates this 
year. It was of concern that residual waste arisings had increased earlier this year; this 
could have been as a result if the poor weather. This area has now recovered.

64. QUARTER 2 ACTION PLAN AND RISKS UPDATE 
64.1 The committee: -

 noted the progress of the current (2018/21) action plan; 
 noted the inclusion of a new action at 3.11 of the action plan (re-procurement of 

HRC wood contracts); 
 agreed the revised target completion dates for actions 4.4 and 4.12; and, 
 noted the high level risks and proposed mitigation measures set out in section 4 of 

this report.

64.2 The committee also received verbal updates from co-opted members of the committee 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.03 pm

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Residual Waste Treatment Directions and Update on Waste 
Transfer Arrangements 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4th December 2018

Significant 
Decision

Yes

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 

wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Partner Councils 

Purpose of Report To: 

1. update on progress on the construction of the Javelin Park Energy 
from Waste (EfW) facility and on mobilisation plans for the delivery of 
waste to the facility; 

2. issue directions for the delivery arrangements for collected residual 
household waste from each of the Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) 
in Gloucestershire.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
I. Notes the progress on the construction of the EfW facility. 

II. Notes the update on the procurement of waste transfer 
arrangements for each of the WCAs within Gloucestershire. 

III. Makes the following directions under s51(4) of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990:
a) that Stroud District Council delivers all its collected 

household residual waste to Urbaser Balfour Beatty at 
Javelin Park Haresfield Stonehouse Gloucestershire with 
effect from 1st March 2019;

b) that Gloucester City Council delivers all its collected 
household residual waste to Urbaser Balfour Beatty at 
Javelin Park Haresfield Stonehouse Gloucestershire with 
effect from 1st March 2019.

IV. Authorises the Head of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team to 
undertake the administrative function of issuing directions in 
accordance with s51(4) of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 which give effect to the following directions made by the 
Committee under s51(4) of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990:  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


a) that Cotswold District Council delivers all its collected 
household residual waste to the provider awarded a 
contract by Gloucestershire County Council for the 
transfer of collected household residual waste in the 
Cotswold District to the place specified in that contract 
with effect from 1st February 2020;

b) that Forest of Dean District Council delivers all its 
collected household residual waste to the provider 
awarded a contract by Gloucestershire County Council 
for the transfer of collected household residual waste in 
the Forest of Dean District to the place specified in that 
contract with effect from 1st February 2020;

c) that Cheltenham Borough Council delivers all its collected 
household residual waste to the provider awarded a 
contract by Gloucestershire County Council for the 
transfer of all its collected household residual waste in the 
Cheltenham Borough to the place specified in that 
contract with effect from 1st March 2019;

d) that Tewkesbury Borough Council delivers at least thirty  
percent by weight of all its collected household residual 
waste to Urbaser Balfour Beatty at Javelin Park 
Haresfield Stonehouse Gloucestershire with effect from 
1st March 2019 and that it delivers no more than seventy 
percent by weight of all its collected household residual 
waste to the provider awarded a contract by 
Gloucestershire County Council for the transfer of 
collected household residual waste in the Tewkesbury 
Borough to the place specified in that contract with effect 
from 1st March 2019.

Resource 
Implications

The proposed waste delivery arrangements will have direct financial 
implications for Gloucestershire County Council and Cheltenham 
Borough Council. These will need to be considered as part of the 
2019/20 budget setting process for each of those councils. No direct 
financial implications are anticipated for the remaining Waste Collection 
Authorities. It is anticipated that changes to current waste delivery 
arrangements will take effect for Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC), 
Gloucester City Council (GC), Stroud District Council (SDC) and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) from March 2019. The current 
delivery arrangements (to local waste transfer sites) for Cotswold 
District Council (CDC) and Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC) will 
remain until January 2020.

 

1. Background

1.1 GCC awarded a contract to treat Gloucestershire’s residual waste to Urbaser 
Balfour Beatty (UBB) in February 2013, which was re-signed in 2016. The contract 
is for the treatment of residual waste that remains after residents have reduced, 
reused and recycled as much as possible. Gloucestershire achieved a countywide 

Page 6



recycling rate of 54% in 2017/18; its highest rate to date. Despite good progress in 
recycling, there is still a significant amount of residual waste that should be diverted 
from landfill, which for 2017/18 was around 130,000 tonnes. 

1.2UBB’s technical solution is incineration with energy recovery. The facility is being 
built at Javelin Park, near Haresfield and will have capacity to treat all of 
Gloucestershire’s residual household waste, whilst generating enough electricity to 
supply up to 25,000 households. 

2. Construction

2.1 Construction work commenced in summer 2016 and continues on schedule. 
Considerable progress has been made since the last update to the joint committee 
in October 2018:

 the facility is now connected to the National Grid and receiving electricity;
 the facility has a water connection;
 cladding of the outside of the building is well progressed;
 excavation of the attenuation ponds has commenced;
 construction of the incinerator bottom ash (IBA) conveyor system and the fit out 

of the IBA treatment hall are well advanced;
 internal cable installation continues; and

 the internal fit out of the admin building, including the visitor centre has 
commenced.

3. Mobilisation

3.1 The facility is due to be fully operational in July 2019. Commissioning will begin 
early in 2019 with hot commissioning (the point at which some waste begins to be 
received and processed) commencing in March 2019. Prior to this, GCC, WCAs and 
service providers such as Ubico and Biffa need to be familiar with the site and 
understand the processes for waste delivery. 

3.2 Regular meetings between these parties and UBB are held. These meetings are 
focussed on the training of all collection and supervisory staff on the safe delivery and 
tipping of waste on site, the confirmation of tipping arrangements for those wastes that 
will not be processed on site and agreeing waste delivery plans for the commissioning 
period. 

3.3 Once Waste Transfer Service contracts are awarded, appropriate mobilisation 
arrangements will also be put in place for these facilities. The relevant transfer station 
contractors will also be asked to attend the ongoing mobilisation meetings with UBB. 

4. Waste Transfer Arrangements

4.1 GCC currently has waste transfer arrangements under its existing Waste 
Management Services Contract for the bulking and haulage of waste collected by CDC 
and FoDDC to landfill. These arrangements end with the expiry of this contract in 
January 2020. 

Page 7



4.2 A new procurement exercise has been undertaken to procure contracts for 
residual waste transfer to the Javelin Park EfW plant from: 

 CDC;
 FoDDC; and, 
 CBC and TBC.

Each of these contracts will have a term of three years with an option to extend for a 
further three years. 

4.3 At its meeting in June 2018, the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) 
was informed that the award of the lot for CBC and TBC would be subject to a cost 
evaluation exercise by GCC, which compared the tender prices received to the 
estimated costs of direct delivery. 

4.4 This work has now been completed and agreements reached between GCC and 
CBC and also between GCC and TBC as to the arrangements for the transfer of 
residual waste and the sharing of the costs incurred in putting into effect those 
arrangements. CBC will tip all collected household residual waste at a local transfer 
station and will make a contribution towards these costs. CBC is taking a report 
regarding the confirmation of this arrangement to its Cabinet on the 28th November 
2018.  TBC will deliver up to 70% of its household residual waste to a local transfer 
station and will direct deliver the remainder to the EfW facility. 

4.7 Post the CBC Cabinet decision of the 28th November 2018 the GCC Lead 
Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning will take a decision to award the Waste 
Transfer Services Contracts referred to in paragraph 4.2 of this Report. These contracts 
will provide for local bulking and transfer points for household residual waste collected 
by CDC, CBC, FoDDC and TBC.

5. Directions under s51(4) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990

5.1 Under the Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990 GCC, as the Waste 
Disposal Authority (WDA), has responsibility for the arrangements for treatment and 
disposal of household waste within the Gloucestershire. Section 51(4) of the EPA 
states that the WDA “shall give direction to the waste collection authorities within its 
area as to the person to whom and places at which such waste shall be delivered”. The 
district, borough and city councils are Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) under the 
EPA.

5.2 GCC has delegated its powers under section 51 of the EPA together with a 
number of other legal powers and duties to the GJWC, meaning that the directions that 
must be issued to WCAs to inform them of the specified tipping locations for waste 
collected by them must be issued by the GJWC. 
 
5.3 Subject to the award of the Waste Transfer Services Contracts by GCC, the 
delivery arrangements for household residual waste to the Javelin Park EfW facility will 
be:

 CDC – delivery by CDC of all its collected household residual waste to 
a local waste transfer station in Cirencester under existing 
arrangements until January 2020 with further delivery of the same by 
CDC to a local waste transfer station provided under the new Waste 
Transfer Service Contract for a minimum of three years from 1st 
February 2020;

Page 8



 CBC – delivery by CBC of all its collected household residual waste to 
a local waste transfer station provided under the new Waste Transfer 
Service Contract from 1st March 2019  for a minimum period of three 
years from that date; 

 FoDDC - delivery by FoDDC of all its collected household residual 
waste to a local waste transfer station in Lydney under existing 
arrangements until January 2020 with further delivery of the same by 
FoDDC to a local waste transfer station provided under the new Waste 
Transfer Service contract for a minimum of three years from 1st 
February 2020;

 Gloucester City – delivery by GC of all its collected household residual 
waste to the EfW facility from 1st March 2019; 

 Stroud D.C - delivery by SDC of all its collected household residual 
waste to the EfW facility from 1st March 2019; and,

 Tewkesbury B.C – delivery by TBC of up to 70% of all its collected 
household residual waste by weight to a local waste transfer station 
provided under the new Waste Transfer Service Contract from 1st 
March 2019 for a minimum period of three years from the 1st March 
2019 and delivery of at least 30% of all its collected household 
residual waste by weight waste to the EfW facility from 1st March 2019.

5.4 Officer advice is to agree the arrangements as set out in paragraph 5.3 of this 
report and to make the directions under s51(4) of the EPA as set out in this report. 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Tipping Away Policy Consultation

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4th December 2018

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Andy Pritchard, Strategy and Development Manager 01452 
427014.

andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Gloucestershire Waste Collection Authorities

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on the development of 
a waste tipping away policy for Gloucestershire.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a)  Notes the progress on the development of a tipping away policy; and

b)  Requests that each Gloucestershire Waste Collection Authority 
responds to the consultation.

Resource 
Implications

JWT Officer time to develop a tipping away policy – managed within 
existing revenue budgets. 

No direct financial expenditure resulting from this report. 

 

1. Background
1.1On 10th October 2018, Gloucestershire County Council’s Cabinet authorised a 

consultation exercise with Waste Collection Authorities within Gloucestershire on the 
development of a waste tipping away policy. The draft policy is based on the model 
developed by the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers.

1.2The consultation has now been issued and will remain open for a period of six weeks 
(until 2nd January 2019). The supporting document is appended at appendix 1 for 
reference. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

mailto:andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. Responses

2.1 Each Gloucestershire Waste Collection Authority has been invited to respond via an 
online link: https://gloucestershire-
consult.objective.co.uk/public/waste/waste_management_tipping_away_policy_cons
ultation_1

2.2 Today’s meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) 
provides an opportunity to raise any questions and points of clarification, ahead of 
submitting responses to the county council.

2.3 Members of the GJWC are asked to raise awareness of the consultation within 
their constituent authorities and request that a response be submitted. Joint Waste 
Team Officers will be designated to support each GJWC partner council in developing 
its response. 

Page 12

https://gloucestershire-consult.objective.co.uk/public/waste/waste_management_tipping_away_policy_consultation_1
https://gloucestershire-consult.objective.co.uk/public/waste/waste_management_tipping_away_policy_consultation_1
https://gloucestershire-consult.objective.co.uk/public/waste/waste_management_tipping_away_policy_consultation_1


Waste Management Tipping Away Policy Consultation 

 

Background 

On 10th October 2018 Gloucestershire County Council's (GCC) Cabinet authorised 

the carrying out of a consultation exercise with all the District, Borough and City 

Councils within Gloucestershire on the development of a waste ‘tipping away’ policy 

based upon the financial model developed by the National Association of Waste 

Disposal Officers (NAWDO).  

Tipping away is the transportation of waste by a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) to 

a disposal point located outside of its waste collection area. In practice, tipping away 

would be required where no treatment facilities or bulking/transfer facilities are 

provided within the WCAs’ administrative area. GCC is a Waste Disposal Authority 

(WDA). 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) sets out the powers and 

responsibilities of local authorities in relation to the transportation and tipping of 

waste. The following clauses are of specific relevance. 

s.48; Duties of waste collection authorities as respects disposal of waste 

collected. 

(1)  It shall be the duty of each waste collection authority to deliver for 

disposal all waste which is collected by the authority… to such 

places as the waste disposal authority for its area directs. 

 s.51 Functions of waste disposal authorities. 

(1)  It shall be the duty of each waste disposal authority to arrange— 

(a) for the disposal of the controlled waste collected in its area 

by the waste collection authorities; 

(4) For the purpose of discharging its duty under subsection (1)(a) 

above as respects controlled waste collected as mentioned in that 

paragraph a waste disposal authority— 

(a) shall give directions to the waste collection authorities within 

its area as to the persons to whom and places at which such 

waste is to be delivered; 

 s.52; Payment for recycling and disposal etc. of waste. 

(10) A waste disposal authority shall pay to a waste collection authority 

a reasonable contribution towards expenditure reasonably incurred 

by the waste collection authority in delivering waste, in pursuance 

Page 13



of a direction under s51 above, to a place which is unreasonably 

far from the waste collection area. 

Sections 48(1) and 51(1) do not apply in cases where the WCA takes responsibility 

for, and makes it’s own arrangements for disposal, such as is the case for disposal of 

materials for recycling. Note also that s52(10) does not apply to trade (commercial 

and industrial) waste collected by the WCA. In the case of trade waste, the EPA 

makes a further provision that a tipping away payment may be made at the discretion 

of the WDA, but this is not a statutory requirement. 

GCC does not have a formal policy in place to calculate and apply the requirements 

of s.52(10) of the EPA. These are commonly referred to as “tipping away” payments. 

In many 2-tier Local Authority areas in England policies have been adopted which 

define how such payments are determined using a formula which calculates a 

reasonable contribution paid to the WCA based upon the additional travel time and 

associated operating costs. These policies only apply when a WCA is directed by the 

WDA to tip waste unreasonably far outside its operating area. 

The adoption of such a policy within Gloucestershire would provide transparency and 

an improved level of operational certainty to all parties in the case where changes are 

made to waste delivery points and where a waste transfer facility is not locally 

available. The EPA makes no distinction with regards to waste types, and a policy 

would therefore apply to various waste streams including separately collected food, 

garden and residual wastes. New contracts for the treatment of all waste streams will 

be established in the next few years and the ability to consider tipping away as an 

option within a formally adopted policy context would be a useful aspect of the 

decision-making process. 

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

GCC together with Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council, Forest of 

Dean D.C and Tewkesbury Borough Council have formed the Gloucestershire Joint 

Waste Committee (GJWC). The Council’s have entered into an Inter-Authority 

Agreement (IAA) setting out how the GJWC operates and delegating certain powers 

and responsibilities to the GJWC; these include sections 48, 51 and 52 of the EPA. 

However, the IAA also sets out (in Clause 3.2.4) that such delegations shall not 

include policy changes to collection and disposal methods. Consequently, the 

development and adoption of a waste tipping away policy is the responsibility of 

GCC. The policy will be developed in consultation with the GJWC and also with 

Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council, who do not currently form part of 

the GJWC.  

The NAWDO Tipping Away model 

Tipping away payments should cover the reasonable costs incurred by a WCA in 

delivering waste to a disposal point which is unreasonably far from the WCAs 

Page 14



operational area. Legislation does not define what is reasonable or unreasonable. 

However, a number of authorities have adopted a model which attempts to 

standardise these unknowns whilst allowing for local variances. This model, 

formulated and presented by NAWDO has been recommended to the Association of 

County Councils for use nationally and forms the financial mechanism on which GCC 

is undertaking this consultation with a view to developing a tipping away policy.   

The formula uses the following variables to produce a total annual tipping away cost: 

 The number of journeys made in a year. 

 The distance (D) travelled from the WCAs boundary to the disposal point 

(return journey). 

 The mileage (d) outside the district boundary beyond which it is considered 

unreasonable to travel (the model deducts this from the total distance travelled 

– point above). This therefore becomes disregarded mileage within the 

calculation. When deciding upon this disregarded mileage consideration 

should be given to local circumstances such as the type of road / route used. 

The guidance provided with the model indicates that this should equate to 

between 0 and 30 minutes travel time (total for a return journey).  

 The average speed of vehicles. Again, this will recognise local variances. 

 The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs (including, if agreed, idle 

labour). 

The model uses these variables in the following formula; 
 

 
Payment    = No. of journeys      x 2(D-d)              x Average hourly rate of vehicle 
  by vehicles  Ave. speed  operating costs 

 

Considering each of these variables in turn: 

1) Number of journeys by vehicles 

This is the number of journeys taken by WCA vehicles throughout a year. Arriving at 

this figure will require agreement between the WCA and the WDA using either actual 

data or by using an average calculation dividing the total annual tonnage forecast 

with the average payload. This calculation could use a single average tonnage 

applicable to all deliveries, or it could be built up to take account of the different types 

of vehicles operated by the WCA.  

2) The distance travelled from the WCAs boundary to the disposal point (D). 

Page 15



The use of the district boundary closest to the disposal point as a basis for 

determining D is the standard approach contained within the NAWDO model. In itself 

it does not take account of the size of the waste collection area and the distances 

travelled by WCA vehicles within their collection areas. 

3) That distance beyond the boundary which it is considered should be disregarded 

(d). 

Establishing the threshold mileage beyond which it is unreasonable to travel outside 

a waste collection area is an important aspect of the formula. The NAWDO model 

provides some guidance in stating that the total return time to drive the disregarded 

mileage should be between 0 and 30 minutes; beyond this distance is considered to 

be unreasonably far. This disregarded mileage is deducted from the payment 

calculation. The following table illustrates how disregarded mileage could be 

calculated. 

Speed of travel and disregarded mileage  

Average Speed Disregarded 
Mileage (15 
mins return 
journey) 

Disregarded 
Mileage (30 
mins return 
journey) 

25 3.12 6.25 

30 3.75 7.5 

40 5 10 

50 6.25 12.5 

 

Local conditions might affect this variable. Faster motorway conditions may, for 

example, result in a higher disregarded mileage compared with a journey undertaken 

on slower A or B roads. The NAWDO model recognises that vehicles operating in 

large rural areas may travel large distances to their boundary. In such cases it may 

be considered that any distance outside the boundary is unreasonable. In more 

compact areas where only short distances from collection points to the boundary are 

involved, it may be considered that up to 30 minutes travel time is reasonable. GCC 

will need to establish these principles for itself as part of the policy. 

4) The average vehicle speed. 

The average speed should be determined and applied on a case by case basis 

dependant upon the route used. This variable should be agreed between the WCA 

and the WDA and could be determined with some trial runs and reviewed over time 

as road and traffic conditions may change. 

5) The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs. 

Although the model does not define this in any detail, this might include the cost of 

drivers and other staff, fuel, vehicle maintenance and standing costs.. Asset 

Page 16



depreciation is not explicitly included or excluded. Consideration could also be given 

to the potential range of different vehicles making the journeys. 

6) Payment. 

The payment from the WDA to the WCA would be calculated using the formula once 

all variables have been defined and agreed. The model does not define the 

frequency of payments. It does allow for a reasonable administrative charge to be 

levied on the WCA in respect of processing transactions, therefore the fewer the 

transactions the less processing costs are incurred. 

 

Consultation questions: Please follow this online link to complete this 

consultation online 

GCC proposes to use the NAWDO model as the financial mechanism to be used for 

the determination of future tipping away payments. WCAs views are sought on how 

this approach could be developed and applied, so that a reasonable contribution is 

made to any future WCA costs incurred by tipping waste unreasonably far beyond 

their collection area boundary. 

 

Q1) Does this model consider all appropriate variables? What additional 

variables, if any, would you want to see included, and why?  Do you have any 

further comments in relation to how the requirements of the EPA are captured 

within this model? 

Q2) The district boundary nearest to the disposal point is used as the starting 

point for calculations of when tipping waste outside the waste collection area 

(D).  Do you think there may be any circumstances where it might be justifiable 

to alter this approach? If so, what alternative starting point could be 

considered in each of those circumstances? 

Q3) The NAWDO model suggests a return journey of between 0 and 30 minutes 

(not including tipping time) beyond a WCA boundary could be considered to 

be a reasonable distance for a disposal point. This means that some flexibility 

is built into the NAWDO model, allowing for this distance to vary depending on 

the type of route used (e.g. motorway journeys would have a higher 

disregarded mileage compared to slower routes). Should any other 

considerations be applied in determining any disregarded mileage (d)? 

Q4) Different types of vehicle will operate at different costs and speeds. 

Therefore it would seem reasonable to calculate tipping away payments 

separately for each vehicle type rather than using a fleet average. Is this a 

sensible approach, and if not, what would be the alternative approach? 

Page 17

https://gloucestershire-consult.objective.co.uk/public/waste/waste_management_tipping_away_policy_consultation_1


Q5) The average vehicle speed can be determined as an actual figure in one of 

two ways; i) using online mapping and known vehicle specs, ii) by using 

actuals determined from trial runs or vehicle tracker information. What would 

be your preferred approach and why? 

Q6) There is a requirement to include hourly vehicle operating costs within the 

model. We would envisage that these costs would be supplied by each WCA 

and verified prior to being applied within the model. Do you have any further 

comments in respect of how this process would work? 

Q7) The number of journeys undertaken in any period will determine the 

payment due for that period. What would be the preferred period upon which 

payments should be made (monthly, quarterly or annually)? 

Q8) Are there any other matters that you consider should be included in the 

development of a tipping away payment policy? 

 

Q Name and position in the organisation 

Q Name of council 

Page 18



COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL SERVICE REVIEW UPDATE

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4 December 2018

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Scott Williams, Contracts Manager – Collections & Street Scene, 01285 623123, 

scott.williams@cotswold.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on the Cotswold 
District Council (CDC) waste and recycling collection service review.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a) Notes the progress made on the CDC service review.

Resource 
Implications

None

1. Background

1.1    In 2012 CDC and Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) created Ubico Limited, a 
teckal company designed to deliver environmental services and provide better value for 
money.  CDC’s service transferred from SITA UK Limited to Ubico in August 2012 and 
some weeks later a new kerbside plastic collection service was launched.  The Council 
purchased recycling collection vehicles at that time, which allowed materials that are 
pre-sorted by residents in black boxes and blue and white bags, to be loaded onto 
different compartments on the vehicle.  The vehicles were built to order with the size of 
each compartment being designed around the quantity of each material being collected 
in the Cotswolds.

Page 19

Agenda Item 8

mailto:scott.williams@cotswold.gov.uk


1.2   Most waste and recycling collection vehicles have a useful life of around 7 years 
after which the cost to repair and maintain them becomes excessive and replacement 
becomes the better financial option. Vehicles are likely to breakdown more frequently 
as they get older and this can impact on the service to the customer and lead to 
considerable hire costs.  As the CDC recycling fleet entered service in 2012 it is due for 
replacement in 2019. High repair costs are already being experienced, due to the 
punishing nature of the collection operation within this large rural district.  A review is 
currently underway to consider depreciating fleet over 6 years, comparing replacement 
cost against maintenance and repair costs and considering qualitative factors such as 
service reliability.

1.3   Replacement of vehicles provides an opportunity to review the collection service 
that is provided. There are a number of reasons to consider service change, notably a 
desire to enhance existing service provision and recycling performance, a need to 
reflect changing demands (i.e. housing growth, changes in material quantities 
presented) and address financial pressures.

2. Shared Objectives – the Joint Waste Committee

2.1   The Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) has agreed a shared 
objective of working towards a common waste and recycling collection service in the 
County. Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils have also expressed an interest in 
this common aim. Greater alignment of collection services offers greater opportunities 
for shared services, joint procurement, increased resilience and efficiency savings. It 
would also present a simpler message to the public, particularly for those residents that 
may move between districts or have families in different areas.  This in turn would 
enable more consistent communication strategies in support of the targets and 
aspirations set out in the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy.  

2.2   CDC is the first authority to review its services since this objective was agreed by 
the GJWC.  The committee was consulted on the public consultation that was 
developed for CDC and has approved its use as a broad template for all future waste 
consultations across the districts.  

2.3   The challenge is now to develop a service model that may suit all partners, 
particularly as there is a range of collection methodology currently used from a fully pre-
sorted kerbside service at Cotswold to a full comingled service at Tewkesbury. There 
also needs to be recognition that some collection methods will be better suited to 
certain demographics/environments; the challenges of collections in a rural district like 
Cotswold will be different to the challenges of collections in an urban area such as 
Gloucester or Cheltenham.  Complete service alignment may not be feasible, but the 
objective will be to achieve comparable and more standardised services where at all 
possible.  

2.4    The CDC recycling service is currently very similar to the CBC service, the only 
differences being the way that food and garden waste are collected and that the CBC 
recycling service collects small waste electricals, textiles and household batteries from 
the kerbside.  If services can be aligned with neighbouring authorities it presents an 
opportunity to consider cross boundary working, which could generate savings for both 
authorities.

3. Review of service options

Page 20



3.1   Attached at Appendix 1 are the outline service options which underwent high level 
modelling.

3.2   In October 2018, the JWC Members were asked to consider these service options 
available to CDC and the wider partnership and offer feedback. This has helped shape 
the reports being submitted to CDC Cabinet and Council and will inform the decision 
making process.

3.3   Options 1, 2 & 5 together with the option for separate food and garden waste 
collections were selected for detailed costing by Ubico.

3.4   Having received the costing information from Ubico, the necessary financial, risk 
and performance scrutiny was undertaken by officers.

4. Approval Process

4.1   On 3rd December, CDC Cabinet was presented with options 1, 2 & 5, their costs, 
risks and likely impacts on recycling performance, and preferences arising from 
consultations with the Public, District Council Members, Town & Parish Councils and 
the Joint Waste Committee.

4.2   Officers will update the Joint Waste Committee on the outcome of the cabinet 
meeting and on any recommendation being submitted for ratification by Council on 11th 
December.

Page 21



Appendix 1 – Service Options
Residual Dry recycling Food Garden

Option Frequency / 
vehicle Container Frequency / vehicle Container Frequency / vehicle Container Frequency / vehicle Container

Baseline Fortnightly - Multi-
stream - Stillage

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Option 1 Fortnightly - Multi-
stream - RRV

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Weekly - co-collected with 
garden waste - RCV

10 litre 
food waste 
container

Weekly - co-
collected with food 

waste - RCV

240 litre 
wheeled bin 

or sacks 

Option 2 Fortnightly - Multi-
stream - RRV

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Weekly - co-collected with 
dry recycling in week 1 
(RRV) and separately in 

week 2 (7.5t RCV)

25 litre 
food waste 
container

Fortnightly - RCV
240 litre 

wheeled bin 
or sacks

Option 3 Weekly - Multi-
stream - RRV

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Weekly - co-collected with 
dry recycling (RRV)

25 litre 
food waste 
container

Fortnightly - RCV
240 litre 

wheeled bin 
or sacks

Option 4a
Fortnightly - Multi-
stream - Split back 

RCV and RRV

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Weekly - co-collected with 
garden waste - RCV

10 litre 
food waste 
container

Weekly - co-
collected with food 

waste - RCV

240 litre 
wheeled bin 

or sacks

Option 4b
Fortnightly - Multi-
stream - Split back 

RCV and RRV

x2 reusable sacks and x1 
kerbside box

Weekly - co-collected with 
dry recycling in week 1 
(RRV) and separately in 

week 2 (7.5t RCV)

25 litre 
food waste 
container

Fortnightly - RCV
240 litre 

wheeled bin 
or sacks

Option 5a
Fortnightly - Two-
stream - Split back 

RCV

240 litre wheeled bin 
and reusable sack

Weekly - co-collected with 
garden waste - RCV

10 litre 
food waste 
container

Weekly - co-
collected with food 

waste - RCV

240 litre 
wheeled bin 

or sacks

Option 5b
Fortnightly - Two-
stream - Split back 

RCV

240 litre wheeled bin 
and reusable sack Weekly - 7.5t RCV

25 litre 
food waste 
container

Fortnightly - RCV
240 litre 

wheeled bin 
or sacks

Option 6a Fortnightly - Co-
mingled - RCV 240 litre wheeled bin Weekly - co-collected with 

garden waste - RCV

10 litre 
food waste 
container

Weekly - co-
collected with food 

waste - RCV

240 litre 
wheeled bin 

or sacks

Option 6b

Fortnightly - 
RCV

180 litre 
wheeled bin 

(some 
households 

provided 
with 120 

litre 
wheeled 
bins or 

plastic sacks)

Fortnightly - Co-
mingled - RCV 240 litre wheeled bin Weekly - 7.5t RCV

25 litre 
food waste 
container

Fortnightly - RCV
240 litre 

wheeled bin 
or sacks

P
age 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Management Accounts Monitoring Report 2018/19

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4 December 2018

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01452 425504),  wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The report sets out:

 The financial performance of the individual authorities within 
the JWC against their approved annual budget for the first 
six months of the current financial year;  

 The combined position across authorities.
 The estimated 2019/20 JWC shared costs.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Notes the financial performance as contained in this report.

Resource 
Implications

None
 

1. Background 

1.1.When the Joint Waste Committee was formed it was agreed that budget setting and 
service charges are retained decisions for the individual authorities within the partnership.
  

1.2.The operational budgets for waste disposal, waste collection and street cleaning remain 
with their respective authority and are managed with the support of officers within the Joint 
Waste Team.

  
1.3.The majority of the operational budget consists of payments to contractors: 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) contracts include Enovert for waste disposal and 
the local authority company Ubico for Household Recycling Centres; Forest of Dean 
District Council (FODDC) contracts include Biffa for waste collection and street cleaning; 
whilst Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC), Cotswold District Council (CDC) and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) waste collection and street cleaning services are 
provided by Ubico.

1.4.As GCC is the Administering Authority for the Joint Waste Committee, budgets associated 
with supporting the Joint Waste Committee are reported within their figures.  Staffing costs 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



for the Joint Waste Team are the largest element of this budget.  These are transferred 
from each partner organisation’s budget to the Administering Authority on a quarterly basis.

2. Current Financial Position

2.1.The combined revenue budget for GCC, CBC, CDC, FODDC and TBC is shown at 
Appendix 1.  The current forecast year end revenue position is an overspend of £266,000 
(0.67% of the net budget).  This is based on monitoring forecasts made in October and 
actual financial transactions to the end of September 2018.

3. Waste Disposal Costs

3.1.Gloucestershire County Council revenue budget at Appendix 2 shows the net forecast 
budget position for waste disposal is a balanced position.

4. Waste Collection Costs

4.1.Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC)

4.1.1. The CBC revenue budget at Appendix 3 forecasts an overspend of £173,000.

4.1.2. Ubico Ltd are forecasting an overspend of £266,000 across the Waste and Recycling 
Services.  Detailed work is being undertaken by Ubico to verify the allocation of 
expenditure between the different services.

4.1.3. The cost of recycling wood collected at the household recycling centre is expected to 
cost £50,000 higher than budgeted, this may be reduced later in the year as a result 
of a tender exercise.

4.1.4. Income from recycling credits is expected to deliver a net surplus of £115,000 for the 
year, mainly due to increased kerbside recycling tonnages.

4.1.5. There is an expected surplus in green waste income for the year of £50,000 as a 
result of increased volume of subscription take up during the year.

4.2. .Cotswold District Council (CDC)

4.2.1. CDC’s revenue budget at Appendix 4 shows a forecast outturn overspend of 
£52,000. 

4.2.2. The main reason for this is due to the likelihood of increased costs on vehicle 
maintenance and vehicle hire because of the older fleet, which is due for 
replacement in 2019.  The current forecast provisionally estimates £50,000 on 
household waste collection vehicles plus £100,000 on recycling vehicles.  The 
situation will be monitored and a better understanding of the impact will be known as 
the year progresses.

4.2.3. Income from garden waste sales is forecast to be £98,000 higher than anticipated 
due to increased take up of the scheme.

4.3.Forest of Dean District Council (FODDC)

4.3.1. FODDC at Appendix 5 currently forecasts an overspend of £37,000.

Page 26



4.3.2. The waste, recycling, street cleaning budget position is forecasting to be overspent at 
year end by around £90,000.  This is due to the income for recycling materials at 
quarter 2 being £52,000 under budget.  During 2017/18 there was a significant 
decrease in the market prices for hard mixed fibres (paper and cardboard) and the 
decline in price continued until May this year.

4.3.3. The shortfall in income for recycling is being offset by a higher than anticipated 
income from recycling credits as the tonnage of recycling collected has increased.  If 
this trend continues throughout the year, it is anticipated that additional income of 
£28,000 will be received.  The garden waste budget is forecasting an underspend at 
year end of £25,000 due to licence sales being higher than budget and demand for 
new garden waste bins being less than anticipated.  All contractor costs are on 
budget.  Therefore a projected overspend across the service is currently forecasted 
to be £37,000

4.4.Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

4.4.1. TBC revenue budget at Appendix 6 forecasts an overspend of £4,000.

4.4.2. Currently the Ubico contract is predicted to be £56,000 overspent by the end of the 
year.  The main reason for this is due to employment costs with additional spend on 
agency staff to cover both long and short term sickness absence, which has been 
higher than expected.

4.4.3. There is a £70,000 gain from the garden waste service, where the change in the 
operation of the service has resulted in an increase in the income received, higher 
than expected in the budget.

4.4.4. Income from the bulky waste collection service is predicted to be £28,000 higher than 
budget.

4.4.5. This means the overall projection at this stage in the year is a deficit of circa £4,000.

5. Estimated 2019/20 Shared Costs

5.1.Appendix 7 shows an estimate of the shared costs and the contribution each partner will be 
requested to make.  This is based on the current partner membership and the funding 
formula presented to the JWC meeting of 21/02/17, Agenda Item 6, relating to the Head of 
Service post (the cost of which forms the majority of the shared costs).

Page 27



Appendix 1 – Total Revenue Budget Summary across all JWC partners

Head of Service: Wayne Lewis Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 365 269 210 -59 314 -51
  Income -365 -91 -76 15 -314 51
  Net Expenditure 0 178 134 -44 0 0
Joint Improvement Board
  Gross Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 178 134 -44 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -710 -366 -277 89 -656 54
WCA Landfill and Composting
  Gross Expenditure 16,374 8,730 6,973 -1,757 16,293 -81
  Income -24 -24 0 24 -24 0
  Net Expenditure 16,350 8,706 6,973 -1,733 16,269 -81
Household Recycling Centres 0 0 0 0 0
  Gross Expenditure 5,354 3,006 2,596 -410 5,383 29
  Income -524 -342 -345 -3 -528 -4
  Net Expenditure 4,830 2,664 2,251 -413 4,855 25
Trade Waste -5 0 -5 -5 -5 0
Recycling Credits 4,520 2,151 1,330 -821 4,613 93
Tipping Away 28 0 28 28 30 2
Closed Landfill Sites 29 10 15 5 31 2
WCA Fridges and TVs 78 40 32 -8 75 -3
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 24 10 4 -6 24 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure 16 10 4 -6 16 0
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 26 43 17 72 22
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 26 43 17 72 22
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 18 28 10 47 -3
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 25,236 13,259 10,422 -2,837 25,347 111

Waste Collection 0
Household Waste 4,735 2,469 2,664 195 4,846 111
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 107 54 63 9 129 22
  Income -151 -76 -109 -33 -199 -48
  Net Expenditure -44 -22 -46 -24 -70 -26
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 481 240 227 -13 454 -27
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 481 240 227 -13 454 -27
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 2,669 1,450 1,547 97 2,691 22
  Income -2,515 -2,196 -2,402 -206 -2,744 -229
  Net Expenditure 154 -746 -855 -109 -53 -207
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 466 233 229 -4 577 111
  Income -181 -91 -85 6 -161 20
  Net Expenditure 285 142 144 2 416 131
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 319 159 156 -3 321 2
  Income -78 -39 -31 8 -74 4
  Net Expenditure 241 120 125 5 247 6
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 6,555 3,402 3,501 99 6,706 151
  Income -2,810 -1,189 -1,146 43 -2,886 -76
  Net Expenditure 3,745 2,213 2,355 142 3,820 75

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 28



Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 388 194 194 0 509 121
  Income -590 -295 -227 68 -581 9
  Net Expenditure -202 -101 -33 68 -72 130
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 913 457 452 -5 908 -5
  Income -918 -545 -538 7 -925 -7
  Net Expenditure -5 -88 -86 2 -17 -12
Recycling Schemes Marketing 90 38 15 -23 89 -1
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 9,480 4,265 4,510 245 9,660 180

Street Cleaning 2,955 1,568 1,542 -26 3,047 92

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 849 0 0 0 849 0
JWT Staffing Costs 690 220 187 -33 573 -117
Depreciation 499 270 270 0 499 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 2,038 490 457 -33 1,921 -117

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 39,709 19,760 17,065 -2,695 39,975 266

Page 29



Appendix 2 – Gloucestershire County Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Gloucestershire County Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 365 269 210 -59 314 -51
  Income -365 -91 -76 15 -314 51
  Net Expenditure 0 178 134 -44 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 178 134 -44 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -710 -366 -277 89 -656 54
WCA Landfill and Composting
  Gross Expenditure 16,374 8,730 6,973 -1,757 16,293 -81
  Income -24 -24 0 24 -24 0
  Net Expenditure 16,350 8,706 6,973 -1,733 16,269 -81
Household Recycling Centres 0
  Gross Expenditure 5,354 3,006 2,596 -410 5,383 29
  Income -524 -342 -345 -3 -528 -4
  Net Expenditure 4,830 2,664 2,251 -413 4,855 25
Trade Waste -5 0 -5 -5 -5 0
Recycling Credits 4,520 2,151 1,330 -821 4,613 93
Tipping Away 28 0 28 28 30 2
Closed Landfill Sites 29 10 15 5 31 2
WCA Fridges and TVs 78 40 32 -8 75 -3
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 24 10 4 -6 24 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure 16 10 4 -6 16 0
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 26 43 17 72 22
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 26 43 17 72 22
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 18 28 10 47 -3
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 25,236 13,259 10,422 -2,837 25,347 111

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 431 0 0 0 431 0
JWT Staffing Costs 360 90 58 -32 249 -111
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 791 90 58 -32 680 -111

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 26,027 13,527 10,614 -2,913 26,027 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 30



Appendix 3 – Cheltenham Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Cheltenham Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,192 606 713 107 1,232 40
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 27 14 20 6 49 22
  Income -48 -24 -33 -9 -68 -20
  Net Expenditure -21 -10 -13 -3 -19 2
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 380 190 192 2 355 -25
  Income -625 -313 -347 -34 -675 -50
  Net Expenditure -245 -123 -155 -32 -320 -75
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 466 233 229 -4 577 111
  Income -181 -91 -85 6 -161 20
  Net Expenditure 285 142 144 2 416 131
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 173 86 86 0 175 2
  Income -66 -33 -26 7 -62 4
  Net Expenditure 107 53 60 7 113 6
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 2,217 1,108 1,089 -19 2,211 -6
  Income -405 -202 -233 -31 -544 -139
  Net Expenditure 1,812 906 856 -50 1,667 -145
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 388 194 194 0 509 121
  Income -590 -295 -227 68 -581 9
  Net Expenditure -202 -101 -33 68 -72 130
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 605 303 295 -8 593 -12
  Income -637 -319 -306 13 -634 3
  Net Expenditure -32 -16 -11 5 -41 -9
Recycling Schemes Marketing 23 11 4 -7 23 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,919 1,468 1,565 97 2,999 80

Street Cleaning 836 418 416 -2 929 93

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 418 0 0 0 418 0
JWT Staffing Costs 61 30 31 1 61 0
Depreciation 71 71 71 0 71 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 550 101 102 1 550 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 4,305 1,987 2,083 96 4,478 173

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 31



Appendix 4 – Cotswold District Council

Partner: Cotswold District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,176 678 696 18 1,226 50
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 39 19 23 4 39 0
  Income -36 -18 -28 -10 -36 0
  Net Expenditure 3 1 -5 -6 3 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 1,414 823 835 12 1,414 0
  Income -627 -620 -717 -97 -725 -98
  Net Expenditure 787 203 118 -85 689 -98
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 1,796 1,023 1,016 -7 1,896 100
  Income -1,035 -447 -425 22 -1,035 0
  Net Expenditure 761 576 591 15 861 100
Recycling Schemes Marketing 13 6 1 -5 13 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,740 1,464 1,401 -63 2,792 52

Street Cleaning 1,085 633 629 -4 1,085 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 50 25 26 1 50 0
Depreciation 31 0 0 0 31 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 81 25 26 1 81 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,906 2,122 2,056 -66 3,958 52

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 32



Appendix 5 – Forest of Dean District Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Forest of Dean District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,484 742 802 60 1,484 0
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 41 21 20 -1 41 0
  Income -38 -19 -19 0 -38 0
  Net Expenditure 3 2 1 -1 3 0
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 8 4 4 0 8 0
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 8 4 4 0 8 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 450 225 277 52 436 -14
  Income -565 -565 -570 -5 -576 -11
  Net Expenditure -115 -340 -293 47 -140 -25
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 146 73 70 -3 146 0
  Income -12 -6 -5 1 -12 0
  Net Expenditure 134 67 65 -2 134 0
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,274 637 733 96 1,274 0
  Income -715 -238 -186 52 -653 62
  Net Expenditure 559 399 547 148 621 62
Recycling Schemes Marketing 39 20 9 -11 39 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,112 894 1,135 241 2,149 37

Street Cleaning 556 278 259 -19 556 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 139 35 35 0 139 0
Depreciation 397 199 199 0 397 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 536 234 234 0 536 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,204 1,406 1,628 222 3,241 37

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 33



Appendix 6 – Tewkesbury Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Tewkesbury Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2018

2 3 4 5 6
Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year

Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 883 443 453 10 904 21
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 0 0
  Income -29 -15 -29 -14 -57 -28
  Net Expenditure -29 -15 -29 -14 -57 -28
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 473 236 223 -13 446 -27
  Income 0 0
  Net Expenditure 473 236 223 -13 446 -27
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 425 212 243 31 486 61
  Income -698 -698 -768 -70 -768 -70
  Net Expenditure -273 -486 -525 -39 -282 -9
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,268 634 663 29 1,325 57
  Income -655 -302 -302 0 -654 1
  Net Expenditure 613 332 361 29 671 58
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 308 154 157 3 315 7
  Income -281 -226 -232 -6 -291 -10
  Net Expenditure 27 -72 -75 -3 24 -3
Recycling Schemes Marketing 15 1 1 0 14 -1
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 1,709 439 409 -30 1,720 11

Street Cleaning 478 239 238 -1 477 -1

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 80 40 37 -3 74 -6
Depreciation 0 0 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 80 40 37 -3 74 -6

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 2,267 718 684 -34 2,271 4

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2018/19

Page 34



Appendix 7 – Estimated Joint Waste Committee Shared Costs 2019-20

   
 Costs £'000   
 Head of Service 88 
 Democratic Services support 4 
 Finance support 3 

 Total shared costs 95 

 GCC Saving Contribution 15 

 Amended base to be shared 80 

  

    
     

 
40%/60% Share GCC: District 
Councils (DCs)

GCC
£'000

 4 existing DCs
£'000 each  

 
Assumes current partner 
membership 32 12  

 GCC Saving Contribution 15   
 Share of Costs 47 12  
     
     
     
     

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance Monitoring Report 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4 December 2018

Significant 
Decision No

Responsible 
Officers

Andy Pritchard, Strategy and Development Manager 01452 
427014; andy.pritchard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report To update members on forecast performance for the financial 
year 2018/19.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee notes the report.

Resource 
Implications None

1. Background 
1.1 This report sets out the forecast performance of the Gloucestershire Councils for 

2018/19, setting out how much waste is treated, the levels of recycling and 
composting achieved and individual councils performance against strategy targets.

2. Performance
2.1. Figure 1 shows the total waste arisings across the county, total recycling (including 

reuse, recycling, AD and composting) and landfill from 2009/10 to the current year.  

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

220,000

240,000

260,000

280,000

300,000

Recycling - All Landfilled Total waste

Figure 1 - Recycling and Landfill Tonnage 2009-2019

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



2.1.1. The proportion of household waste sent to landfill is forecast to increase in 
2018/19, from 128,700 tonnes last year to 130,500 tonnes, which represents 
an upturn of 1.4%.

2.1.2. The amount of waste sent for reuse, recycling, composting and anaerobic 
digestion is forecast to increase from 153,300 tonnes last year to 154,200 
tonnes, which represents an upturn of 0.6%.

2.1.3. The total amount of waste landfilled, recycled and reused is therefore 
forecast to increase in 2018/19, from 282,000 tonnes last year to 284,700, 
which represents an upturn of 1%. 

2.2. Figure 2 shows the total household waste arisings across the county by waste type in 
kg per household (kg/hh) from 2009 to 2018.

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200
Landfilled Food Recycling Reuse

Figure 2 - Total Household Waste Arisings across the County by Waste 
Type - kg per household per year

Data for 2018/19 is provisional outturn data. For Cotswold the proportion of food waste has been estimated  

2.2.1. From 2009 to 2012 there was a year on year reduction in total waste and 
residual waste which was linked to the success of the service changes that 
took place at Cheltenham B.C, Cotswold D.C, Gloucester City, Forest of 
Dean and Tewkesbury B.C to support the Joint Waste Municipal Waste 
Strategy with the introduction of weekly food waste collections, a move from 
weekly to fortnightly residual waste collections and provision of improved 
kerbside recycling services. 
  

2.2.2. Since 2012 residual waste has increased, which was in part due to the upturn 
in the economy, but service changes in Stroud and other districts has helped 
to control this growth.

2.2.3. Positively in 2017/18 the kg/hh of residual waste reduced significantly to 459 
kg/hh; an improvement on the previous years performance of 490 kg/hh. The 
forecast for 2018/19 is for this to remain unchanged. Therefore it can be 
assumed that the absolute residual waste tonnage growth outlined in 2.1.1 
above is due to growth in housing numbers.

Page 38



2.2.4. Food waste increased to around 70 kg/hh in 2017/18 (CDC tonnages are 
estimated as these are comingled with garden waste), with all districts now 
collecting food waste at the kerbside. Again, no significant change is 
anticipated through 2018/19.

2.3. Figure 3 shows the recycling arisings for each collection authority for the last 4 years.

Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

50

100

150

200

250
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 3 - Recycling Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

2.3.1. Cheltenham B.C, Forest of Dean D.C, Gloucester City and Stroud D.C all 
demonstrated an increase in their recycling performance during 2017/18, 
whilst very little change was experienced in Cotswold D.C and Tewkesbury 
B.C. The main improvements are due to recent service changes and the 
enforcement of collection policies.

2.3.2. Dry recycling in Cheltenham is further boosted by the operation of Swindon Rd 
Household Recycling Centre which contributes a significant proportion of the 
kg/hh (currently 29% by weight).

2.3.3. Forecasts for 2018/19 suggest a further small increase to recycling in some 
districts whilst others remain stable.

2.4 Figure 4 shows the food waste arisings by authority for the last 4 years.

Page 39



Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 4 - Food Waste Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

2.4.1 For the first time in 2017/18, food waste tonnage exceeded 20,000 tonnes, an 
increase of 16% on the previous year. Again, the impact of service change has 
been the driving factor in this improvement. This is estimated to represent 
around one third of the available food waste within the total waste stream, so 
scope exists to capture more food waste for recycling. However, 2018/19 
projections forecast little change.

2.5 Figure 5 shows the garden waste arisings for each collection authority for the last 4 
years. As Cotswold D.C mixes food and garden waste, the garden waste tonnage is 
an estimate. Garden waste tonnage is of course affected by the weather and growing 
conditions, and no guarantee can be given regarding future forecasts. Due to poor 
growing conditions throughout much of this summer, garden waste tonnages are 
expected to be lower than normal during 2018/19 overall, but a mild autumn has 
continued to generate garden waste in excess of the seasonal norm.

Cheltenham BC Cotswold DC Forest of Dean 
DC

Gloucester City Stroud DC Tewkesbury BC
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 5 - Garden Waste Arisings by Authority kg/hh per year 2015/16 - 2018/19

Page 40



3. Targets

3.1. When the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) was signed in April 
2008 each local authority signed up to meeting the following targets which were 
aligned to the former national key performance indicators NI191 and NI192.

NI 192 – % of Household Waste Sent for Reuse, Recycling, Composting and AD
2009/10 40% Achieved
2014/15 50% 48% (52% achieved in 2016/17)
2019/20 60% (2020 target)
NI 191 – kg/hh of Residual Waste 
2009/10 659 kg/hh Achieved
2014/15 573 kg/hh Achieved
2019/20 479 kg/hh (2020 target)

3.2. Figure 6 shows the former NI192 actuals for the previous 4 years against these 
targets.

 

Chelte
nham

 BC

Cotsw
old DC

Fo
rest 

of D
ean

 DC

Glouce
ste

r C
ity

Str
oud DC

Tewke
sb

ury 
BC

HRCs

County
0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 6 - Reuse, Recycling, Composting and AD %

3.2.1. The overall county performance reached 54.2% in 2017/18 due to the full 
impact of collection service changes. This is the best ever performance 
recorded in Gloucestershire. The forecast for 2018/19 is for no significant 
change, and is expected to remain at 54.2%.

3.3.Figure 7 shows the former NI191 indicator – kg/hh of residual waste arisings by 
authority.

Page 41



Cheltenham 
BC

Cotswold 
DC

Forest of 
Dean DC

Gloucester 
City

Stroud DC Tewkesbury 
BC

HRCs County
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Figure 7 - Landfilled waste - kg/hh

3.3.1. The 2020 target is 479kg/hh of residual waste.  The overall county position 
for 2017/18 was 458kg/hh, already ahead of the 2020 target. The county 
position takes into account the waste collected at the kerbside and the waste 
at Household Recycling Centres. Kg/hh of residual waste is expected to 
remain unchanged at 458kg/hh in 2018/19.

Page 42



2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE AND DRAFT ACTION PLAN FOR 
2019/22

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 4 December 2018

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, 01452 425504, 
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on progress of the 
2018/21 actions and to set out a draft action plan for 2019/22 for 
review.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a)  Notes the progress of the current (2018/21) action plan;

b) Agrees revised completion dates for the actions discussed in 
paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 of this report;

c) Notes the high level risks and mitigation measures set out in 
section 4 of this report;

d) Considers the draft action plan for 2019/22 and provides 
comments ahead of its planned adoption in February 2019.

Resource 
Implications

None.  The current revenue budget position for each of the partners is 
reported separately on today’s agenda.

Page 43

Agenda Item 11

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1. Background

1.1 This report provides an update on the progress to November 2018 of the 2018/21 
action plan adopted by the JWC in February 2018. 

1.2 A risk register is developed as part of the JWC annual business plan and is 
managed by the Senior Managers Group (SMG). Risks categorised as high by the 
SMG will be reported to the JWC. The current high level risks are set out in 
section 4.

1.3 The Joint Waste Committee adopts a business plan each year (normally at its 
February meeting). A draft action plan for the 2019/21 period is provided within 
this report for review ahead of its inclusion within the business plan for the same 
period. 

2. Action plan 2018/21

2.1 Appendix 1 provides a summary of progress to 22nd November 2018 against the 
2018/21 action plan. Good progress is being made on the majority of actions. Two 
actions have been scored as red, as limited progress has been made (actions 4.4 
– alignment of street cleaning, waste and recycling functions for Cheltenham 
borough council and 4.12 – trade waste review for Tewkesbury and Cheltenham 
boroughs). In consultation with the relevant partner councils, these will be carried 
forward in to the action plan for 19/22. 

2.2 Whilst good progress has been made, a revised completion date of March 2019 is 
also necessary for action 3.10 (development of a tipping away policy).

3. Risks

3.1 A risk register that identifies risks associated with the delivery of the JWC action 
plan (2018/21) is reviewed at each meeting of the SMG. Risks are scored according to 
their likelihood and also the impact that they might have should they occur. Mitigation 
measures are set out to reduce the effects of these risks. The highest scoring risks are 
reported to the joint committee. 

3.2 At quarter 3, three risks have been scored as “high”. These are set out in 
appendix 2, together with mitigation measures.  

3.2.1 The costs of a number of Ubico contracts were higher than budgeted last year 
(for Cheltenham B.C, Cotswold D.C, and Gloucestershire C.C). There are also shared 
concerns over the quality of the forecasting and reporting provided. Mitigation 
measures have been agreed in consultation with Ubico. Key measures include the 
recent recruitment of financial support staff and the introduction of more regular and 
better quality budget reporting. 

3.2.2 With the Javelin Park Energy from Waste plant due to start accepting waste in 
March 2019, there is a requirement to make arrangements for the delivery of district 
council collected waste to the site. A procurement process for waste transfer has been 
completed and options for managing the associated costs have been discussed by the 
relevant partner councils. This is discussed in more detail elsewhere on today’s 
agenda.

Page 44



3.2.3 The difficulty in recruiting and retaining labour for waste and recycling collections 
work, particularly drivers, continues to be an issue for Ubico. The company continues to 
take mitigation measures including recent recruitments and development of a drivers 
supplement on a number of contracts.  

4. Draft Action Plan for 2019/22

4.1 A draft action plan for 2019/22 is set out at appendix 3. Some key projects will 
include a review of the Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
and a related review of the current partnership governance and funding arrangements, 
so that clear and shared objectives are in place and suitable structures in place to 
facilitate their achievement. A review of our current waste infrastructure such as depots, 
transfer facilities and HRCs will also be important to ensure that services remain fit for 
purpose. There are a number of procurement and mobilisation exercises to be 
managed and a desire to further improve communication and behaviour change efforts, 
which members have identified as a priority.  

4.2 The draft action plan will also be discussed with Ubico Ltd, so that the respective 
business plans of both the GJWC and Ubico can increasingly be aligned.  

5. Updates from Non-voting Partners

5.1 Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council will be invited to provide a 
verbal update at the meeting.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 Key

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Red Major Issues or delays.

Action Plan - 2018/21 Amber Minor issues or delays.

Green Proceeding to plan.

Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes

Target 

completion 

date

Progress, Nov 18
RAG 

Status

1

1.1
Benchmarking review of current collection 

services.
All

To understand the relative cost and performance of 

current waste and recycling services across 

Gloucestershire.

Oct-18

Completed. Benchmarking of current Gloucestershire 

services conducted as part of Cotswold District Council 

(CDC) collection service review. Results have been 

presented to SMG.

1.2
Development of future aligned collection 

options.
All

To understand the indicative cost and performance of a 

shortlist of future aligned collection service options.
Mar-19

CDC service review included benchmarking of 

Gloucestershire services, modelling the relative cost and 

performance of different service options for CDC and 

consultation with local residents. This approach can now 

be applied for other districts when reviewing services.

1.3 Service Integration Routemap. All
To develop a preferred option and pathway to service 

integration.
Oct-19

Public consultation for CDC service review approved at 

June JWC and adopted as a broad template for any 

future such consultations. . JWC considered CDC 

collection options appraisal outcomes and their wider 

applicability at its Oct meeting. The CDC approach 

provides a template for future service reviews. Some 

further work needed to agree timelines for future reviews.

1.4
Continue to encourage GCiC and SDC to join 

the JWC.
All

To develop an overall strategy and optimised delivery 

framework for  efficient, effective and inclusive resource 

management in Gloucestershire.  

Ongoing
Officer level meetings continue with Gloucester City. 

Further meeting planned with SDC. 

1.5
Review and renew the Gloucestershire Joint 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy. 
All

To agree a vision, priorities and targets for municipal 

waste management in Gloucestershire beyond Mar 2020.
Feb-20

Through ADEPT, the JWT has been involved in 

stakeholder consultation on the development of a new 

national waste and resources strategy. The strategy is 

due to be published by the end of the calendar year.

2

2.1 FODDC Depot Project FODDC

To produce a site assessment report and prepare a 

business case for a council owned Depot and Bulking 

Facility to be in place in readiness for 2024.

Mar-19
Site assessment report completed.  A business case is 

being developed by FoDDC. 

3

3.1

Procurement of a replacement composting 

contract for garden waste collected in 

Gloucestershire.

All New contract to compost garden waste. Jan-20 Procurement project to commence Jun 2019.

3.2
Mobilisation of FoDDC street cleaning 

contract. 
FoDDC New contract for street cleaning within FoDDC. Aug-18

Contract awarded to Biffa following Cabinet authorisation 

on 13 September. Vehicles are on order. Contract to start 

April 2019.

3.3
Refuse and garden waste vehicle 

procurement.
FODDC New vehicles in line with contract for 2018-2024. Jul-18 Completed. Vehicles delivered and operational. 

Strategic Direction

Procurement 

Infrastructure

P
age 47



Green Proceeding to plan.

3.4
Procurement of waste transfer from the north, 

east and west of county.
GCC

To ensure adequate long term waste transfer is in place 

to support FoD, TBC, CBC & CDC.
Mar-19

Tenders received and evaluation completed. Contract 

award delayed due to ongoing discussion between GCC, 

CBC and TBC over waste transfer and direct delivery 

tonnages. Contract award anticipated in Dec 2018.

3.5.1 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC To replace compactors at Hempsted and Pyke HRCs. Sep-18
Installation at Pyke Quarry completed. Work to 

commence at Hempsted in Dec 2018 (3rd to 21st).

3.5.2 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC
To replace compactors at Oak Quarry and Wingmoor 

HRCs.
Jun-19

Capital growth bid  submitted to GCC in Jul 2018 for 

Fosse Cross. Outcome awaited.  Wingmoor and Oak can 

be completed within current funding allocation.

3.6 Food waste contract extension/procurement. GCC
To ensure that a food waste recycling contract remains in 

place beyond the end of current contract term.
Sep-19

Completed. Contract extended until 30th Sept 2021.  

Short extension to IVC may be needed even if CDC 

service change goes to separate food waste collection.

3.7
Reach decision on contract extensions for 

sale of recyclable materials from HRC sites.
GCC

To ensure continued arrangements for HRC recyclate 

sales. 
Aug-20 Decision to be taken in Jun 2019

3.8
Dry recycling material transfer 

extension/procurement.
TBC

To ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place 

for the transfer of mixed dry recycling to the MRF beyond 

the end of the current contract term.

Apr-19
Project complete and an extension to the existing 

arrangement has been agreed. 

3.9

Support CBC and TBC to develop costs and 

delivery plan for possible direct delivery of 

waste to Javelin park

CBC & TBC Cost evaluation and potential mobilisation exercise Mar-19

Estimated costs of direct delivery developed and 

submitted to GCC. Discussions regarding waste transfer 

and direct delivery now completed.

3.10
Support GCC in developing a tipping away 

policy for agreement with district councils
GCC

A tipping away policy that can be used to compensate 

WCAs that are required to tip waste beyond their district 

boundaries.

Oct-18

GCC Cabinet October 2018 agreed to issue a draft policy 

for consultation. Consultation now live. Anticipated policy 

adoption Feb/Mar 2019. Revised completion date of 

March 2019 requested.

4

4.1
Review options for dewatering and recycling 

street sweepings and gulley waste. 
All

To assess and, if economically viable, arrange recycling 

of street sweepings and gulley waste.   
Mar-20

Street sweepings are classed as Contract Waste under 

the Residual Waste Treatment Contract with UBB 

(Javelin Park). Discussion underway with UBB on 

possible solutions.

4.2

To review and establish how new 

developments that cross boundaries will be 

serviced.

CBC/TBC

To undertake a business case for a consistent service in 

the JCS area around Cheltenham, which crosses district 

boundaries.  To ensure that the preferred collection 

service is aligned with wider GJWC work on service 

integration.

Oct-19
Discussion underway with the planners to understand 

development timescales. 

4.3 CBC Bring Site Review CBC

To assess the impact of the improved kerbside recycling 

service on bring site usage and identify any areas of 

improvement/efficiency.

Jul-18

Analysis completed on performance and costs of CBC 

bring sites and HRC following implementation of the 

kerbside recycling service redesign. The work has been 

provided to CBC for review.

4.4
Alignment of street cleaning functions with 

waste and recycling collections.
CBC

To improve the efficiency of street cleansing in the 

borough.
Oct-18

Work has not yet commenced and this action is likely to 

be carried over into 2019/20 action plan.

4.5

Support CDC in appraising the options 

available for waste and recycling service 

improvement in 2019 when the current 

vehicles reach their end of life.

CDC

To assess the collection options available to CDC, so that 

the service remains affordable, meets customer 

expectations and achieves high levels of recycling. To 

ensure that the preferred collection service is aligned with 

wider GJWC work on service integration.

Mar-19

A public consultation exercise and optons appraisal have 

been completed and shared with the JWC.  Reporting to 

CDC Cabinet (3rd Dec) and Council (11th Dec)  in order 

to reach a decision on the future service design. 

Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement

P
age 48



Green Proceeding to plan.

4.6
Review HRCs to explore service efficiency 

opportunities.
GCC & CBC

To review opening hours and charging policies at HRCs 

in order to identify efficiency savings contributing to 

GCC's wider savings programme.

Oct-18

Analysis completed on performance of CBC HRC 

following implementation of the kerbside recycling service 

redesign, which has been provided to CBC for review. 

Savings options from reduced opening hours at GCC 

HRCs have been completed. LCM approval obtained for 

revised HRC opening hours and one day closure per site. 

New opening hours commenced 28th Oct.

4.7 Review of HRC Contract performance. GCC

To review the performance of the HRC Service Contract 

following its first full year of operation and assess 

whether it remains value for money.

Mar-19

A formal review has not yet started due to resource 

constraints within the Joint Waste and GCC Commercial 

Services teams. A revised completion date of Mar 2019 

agreed at Jun GJWC meeting.

4.8 Residual waste composition analysis. GCC
Four-season analysis of kerbside and HRC residual 

waste commencing summer 2018.
Apr-19

First phase of fieldwork completed in July 2018. Phase 

two fieldwork commenced in November 2018.

4.9

Redirect a proportion of waste to Wingmoor 

Farm landfill in order to prolong life of 

Hempsted landfill.

GCC To minimise the amount of waste disposal at Hempsted. Ongoing

Regular monitoring of tonnages delivered to Hempsted. 

Enovert has provided additional landfill capaicty at 

Hempsted for short term until EfW commissioning.

4.10
Mobilisation of Javelin Park Energy from 

Waste contract.
GCC

To ensure that the contract is mobilised on time and in 

line with the contract requirements. 
Jul-19

Work is ongoing, with regular meetings set up between 

UBB, the project team, district councils and contractors to 

plan and deliver a smooth mobilisation.

4.11
Mobilisation of HRC recyclable material sales 

contracts.
GCC

To have contracts in place for the recycling of materials 

collected at HRCs.
Apr-18

Completed. Wood recycling contract has been relet due 

to termination of previous contract.

4.12

Work with Ubico to undertake a review of the 

discretionary trade waste service to ensure it 

is operating on a viable commercial level.

TBC & CBC
Present review findings to authorities and gain support for 

service improvements.
Oct-18

Independent review completed by APSE and considered 

by SMG. Future strategy yet to be agreed and as a result 

of residual waste transfer work, this action is likely to 

carry across into 2019/20 action plan. 

4.13
Investigate the collection of WEEE (and other 

possible recyclables) at the kerbside. 
TBC

Investigate the options for kerbside collection with a view 

to increasing the capture rate of WEEE.
Mar-19

The RCV fleet has been assessed  for the suitability of 

fitting collection cages and currently awaiting prices. 

Recycling outlets for the materials need to be sought then 

an options appraisal completed of the cost and likely 

benefits for providing the additional recycling options. If 

viable, roll out would be after refuse services start taking 

waste to javelin park due to the location of the under 

chassis collection cages. 

4.14 Street cleaning operational review. TBC
To improve the effectiveness of street cleansing in the 

borough.
Mar-19

A review of the current service is underway with Ubico. 

Draft schedules are being drawn up for the sweeper 

routes. Litter picking and bin emptying will be reviewed 

next. 

4.15 Bulky waste collection service review. TBC

To consider service options with the aim of improving 

service levels and reducing waste to landfill following an 

audit of the service and assist in implementing the 

recommendations. 

Mar-19

Some work is underway internally at TBC as the 

collection vehicle is on occasion struggling to meet the 

demand of both bulky collections and bin deliveries 

combined. JWT officers will be required to support this. 

5 Organisational / Systems

P
age 49



Green Proceeding to plan.

5.1 Review JWC funding arrangements. All

To ensure that funding arrangements remain sufficient to 

deliver JWC objectives and are shared equitably by the 

partner councils. 

Mar-19

Revised completion date of Mar 19 agreed at Jun GJWC 

meeting. To commence on completion of current waste 

transfer project.

5.2 Review JWT staffing structure. All
To ensure sufficient resources are in place to support 

partner councils and deliver JWC objectives.
Ongoing

Consultation undertaken with JWT and with SMG.  

Changes to WDA roles currently being developed in 

consultation with GCC. New role of Contract Manager 

(HRCs. Recycling and Disposal) appointed.

5.3 Javelin Park project handover GCC

To ensure an efficient transfer of responsibility for the 

contract from the commercial/procurement team to the 

JWT. 

Mar-19
Ongoing, with regular meetings taking place between the 

Commercial and Joint Waste teams.

6

6.1

Communications campaign highlighting the 

importance of separating the right materials 

for recycling.

All
Maintaining high quality recyclable materials and 

minimising contamination.
Mar-19

CBC has publicised the need for pre-sorting since 1st 

April, with the use of bin tags and the back page of the 

'Your Guide'. CDC beginning a promotion on the need for 

pre-sorting in order to provide good quality recycling. 

TBC produces the annual recycling calendar which 

includes what should and should not be included in all the 

recyclnig services. Recycling communications is also a 

standard feature in the triannual Borough News 

magazine. 

6.2
Communications campaign to promote food 

waste prevention and recycling.
All

Encourage residents to reduce food waste, maintain high 

capture rates of food waste for recycling and minimise 

the amount of food waste within the residual waste 

stream.

Mar-19

First and second phase of activity completed during 

football world cup and recycle week.  Food waste will be 

the main focus of the Christmas campaign (to include 

press and radio ads and social media).

6.3
Communications campaign to promote the 

reduction and recycling of plastic waste.
All

Encourage residents to reduce consumption of single-use 

plastics, maintain high capture rates of plastic for 

recycling and minimise the amount of plastic materials 

within the residual waste stream.

Mar-19

Recycling of plastic bottles  promoted through the 

Recycle for Gloucestershire "Waste Free Wednesdays" 

articles. It was also promoted as part of the Recycle for 

Gloucestershire World Cup campaign. The National 

Recycle Week in September also focused on plastics.

6.4 Javelin Park communications. GCC
To ensure consistent and clear communications relating 

to the construction and operation of the facility.
Ongoing

Communications planning with UBB is underway. A 

number of reactive communications by GCC also 

continue to be supported.

6.5 Continued promotion of real nappies. GCC

To provide information and support on the use of 

reusable nappies and to promote the uptake of the 

Gloucestershire Real Nappy voucher scheme.

Ongoing
New contract established for Resource Futures to 

continue the programme.

6.6
Continued support for home and community 

composting.
GCC

To provide information and support on home and 

community composting and continue to make home 

composting bins available for purchase by 

Gloucestershire residents.

Ongoing
Compost Awareness week was promoted in May. 

Discounted compost bin support still available.

6.7
Promote garden waste collection schemes in 

all districts.

CDC, CBC, 

FoDDC & TBC

To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste 

collection services.
Jun-18

Promotions of garden waste service for CDC,CBC, 

FODDC and TBC have been completed.

Communications and Behavioural Change

P
age 50



Green Proceeding to plan.

6.8
To build on the Love Your Forest anti-litter 

campaign.
FoDDC

To develop and deliver an action plan to work with the 

community to change behaviour and reduce littering 

across the district. Wherever possible, to share and apply 

learning across the partnership.

Ongoing

Trashconverter trailer has attended public events and 

school visits.  Ten advertorials in the Forest Review (w/c 

25 June-w/c 27 August) promoting different aspects of 

the campaign /highlighting specific litter issues.  LYF car 

window sticker competition has ended.  Over 500 unique 

registration plates spotted this year.  Seventeen Scout 

groups (plus 2 Brownies) have now undertaken litter 

picks/received a talk. More are planned for spring 2019.  

Litter sculptures installed at local parks and 

PedalABikeAway.  A report on outcomes of the campaign 

was launched at a reception at the House of Commons in 

November.  Planning is now underway for next year’s 

campaign.  

7

7.1

Monitoring, reporting and continuous review 

of health and safety policy and practices of 

GJWC contractors and service providers.

ALL
To ensure safe working practices are in place and to 

establish common processes and best practice.
Ongoing

Health & Safety is monitored on a ongoing basis as part 

of the contract management for each of the authorities. 

H&S is a standing item for all contractor meetings and the 

team continually assesses the numbers and detail of lost 

time, non lost time and near miss incidents. A report on 

2018/19 activity was presented to the Jun 2018G JWC 

meeting.

Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations

P
age 51



Appendix 2 - High Level risks 

Last Reviewed: Nov 2018 Impact 

v.Lo = Negligible

Lo = Minor

Med = Moderate

Hi = Major

v.Hi = Catastrophic

Raw Score Mitigated Score Notes May 18
Impact Prob. Score Impact Prob. score 

R5
Ubico service costs increase beyond 

budgeted amounts.

Additional budget has to be found, meaning that 

other services may need to be cut back.
Hi Hi

Additional financial support  recruited by Ubico. Monthly 

budget monitoring by JWT and Partner Councils as part 

of regular contract monitoring and financial reporting 

processes. Quarterly monitoring and reporting by ESPBs. 

Efforts made in setting 208/19 contract sums to identify 

all known costs and pressures within the base budget. 

SMG met with Ubico MD about the need make 

efficiencies.

Hi Hi

R12

Failure to make transfer arrangements 

for the delivery of waste to Javelin 

Park

Waste cannot be delivered to the facility or 

waste has to be direct delivered by collection 

vehicles over longer distances.

V Hi Med

Procurement exercise to secure transfer arrangements. 

Development of a direct delivery contingency plan. 

Negotiation between GCC, CBC and TBC to manage 

down the costs of waste transfer from those boroughs.

Med Lo

Impact increased (impact of direct delivery on TBC and CBC)

R13  Driver shortages

Impact on service delivery if not all rounds can 

be deployed, particularly if over a sustained 

period. Wage pressure may also become a 

factor.

Hi Hi
Work with contractors to ensure they have policies in 

place for driver training and retention. Ensure drivers 

have met CTC requirements.

Hi Med

Non completions in CBC as Agency drivers and loaders are not turning up. Probability increased.

Probability

Not foreseeable

Unlikely

Possible 

Likely

Almost certain

Ref Risk Effect Mitigation planned 

P
age 52



Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Action Plan - 2019/22 Version 0.2 Appendix 3

Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes

Target 

completion 

date

Notes

1

1.1 Service Integration Routemap. All
To develop a preferred option and pathway to service 

integration.
Oct-19 Carried forward from 2018-21

1.2
Continue to encourage GCiC and SDC to join 

the JWC.
All

To develop an overall strategy and optimised delivery 

framework for  efficient, effective and inclusive resource 

management in Gloucestershire.  

Ongoing Carried forward from 2018-21

1.3

Review and renew the Gloucestershire Joint 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

(GJMWMS). 

All
To agree a vision, priorities and targets for municipal 

waste management in Gloucestershire beyond Mar 2020.
Feb-20 Carried forward from 2018-21

1.4
Review partnership IAA, payments and 

funding arrangements.
All

To ensure that governance and funding arrangements 

continue to support the achievement of the partnerships' 

vision, priorities and targets. To continue to provide good 

value for money for partner councils.

Oct-20

New. Logical that governance and 

funding review follows the 

strategy review.

2

2.1
Review current depot, transfer and HRC 

provision and assess future requirements.
All

To assess current premises and identify future 

infrastructure requirements needed to meet future 

GJWMS priorities and targets.

Mar-21

New - broadened from FoD depot 

review. Long term arrangements 

for waste transfer need to be 

developed and a number of 

districts are seeking to review 

current depot provision.

3

3.1

Procurement of a replacement composting 

contract for garden waste collected in 

Gloucestershire.

All
New contract to compost garden waste. To include 

bulking and haulage where required.
Jan-20

Carried forward. Procurement 

project to commence May/Jun 

2019.

3.2 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC
To replace compactors at Oak Quarry, Wingmoor and 

(subject to capital bid) Fosse Cross HRCs.
Jun-19

Carried forward. Capital growth 

bid  submitted to GCC in Jul 2018. 

Outcome awaited.

Strategic Direction

Infrastructure

Procurement

P
age 53



3.3 Food waste contract procurement. GCC

To ensure that a food waste recycling contract remains in 

place beyond the end of current contract term.  To include 

bulking and haulage where required.

Sep-21

Carried forward. Existing contract 

extended until 30th Sept 2021. 

New contract to be procured. 

Scope extended to include bulking 

& haulage.

3.4
Reach decision on contract extensions for 

sale of recyclable materials from HRC sites.
GCC

To ensure continued arrangements for HRC recyclate 

sales. 
Aug-20 Decision to be taken in Jun 2019

3.5
Dry recycling material transfer 

extension/procurement.
TBC

To ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place 

for the transfer of mixed dry recycling to the MRF beyond 

the end of the current contract term.

Apr-19
Carried forward - currently based 

on a rolling annual extension.

3.6
Make arrangements  for the continued 

monitoring of closed landfill sites.
GCC

To ensure monitoring remains in place following the end 

of the current waste disposal services contract.
Jan-20 New

3.7
Make arrangements for the collection and 

disposal of clinical waste.
All

To ensure collection and disposal arrangements remain 

in place for clinical waste following the end of the current 

waste disposal services contract.

Jan-20 New

3.8

Ensure arrangements remain in place for the 

collection of sharps from community 

pharmacies.

All

To ensure collection and disposal arrangements remain 

in place for sharps following the end of funding for this 

service by the NHS.

[Date] New

4

4.1
Review options for dewatering and recycling 

street sweepings and gulley waste. 
All

To assess and, if economically viable, arrange recycling 

of street sweepings and gulley waste.   
Mar-20

Carried forward. Any arrangement 

needs to be via UBB.

4.2

To review and establish how new 

developments that cross boundaries will be 

serviced.

TBC

To undertake a business case for a consistent service in 

the JCS area around Cheltenham, which crosses district 

boundaries.  To ensure that the preferred collection 

service is aligned with wider GJWC work on service 

integration.

Oct-19 Carried forward

4.3
Support CDC in implementing new waste and 

recycling collection service in 2019.
CDC

To implement the recommendations of the collection 

service options appraisal, by overseeing the 

implementation of new waste and recycling collection 

services by Ubico in Cotswold D.C

Oct-19
New project phase following last 

year's options appraisal work.

4.4
Review HRCs to explore service efficiency 

opportunities.
GCC 

Devise and  implement further efficiencies at HRCs in 

order to contribute  to GCC's wider savings programme.
Jun-19

New/Continuation of efficiency 

savings programme

4.5 Residual waste composition analysis. GCC
Four-season analysis of kerbside and HRC residual 

waste commencing summer 2018.
Apr-19

Carried forward - Spring sort will 

fall in 2019/20. 

4.6
Mobilisation of Javelin Park Energy from 

Waste contract.
GCC

To ensure that the contract is mobilised on time and in 

line with the contract requirements. 
Jul-19 Carried forward

Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement

P
age 54



4.7
Mobilisation of Forest of Dean Street Cleaning 

Contract.
FoDDC To ensure a smooth mobilisation of the new contract. Apr-19

New project phase following last 

year's procurement project.

4.8
Coordinate Forest of Dean community panel 

on waste and recycling
FoDDC

To seek local residents views on current and future waste 

and recycling service priorities
Ongoing New

4.9
Assess the feasibility of introducing reuse 

shops at HRCs
GCC

To reduce waste and increase reuse by providing reuse 

shops at HRC
Oct-20 New 

5

5.1

Communications campaign highlighting the 

importance of separating the right materials 

for recycling.

All
Maintaining high quality recyclable materials and 

minimising contamination.
Mar-20 Carried forward

5.2
Communications campaign to promote food 

waste prevention and recycling.
All

Encourage residents to reduce food waste, maintain high 

capture rates of food waste for recycling and minimise the 

amount of food waste within the residual waste stream.

Mar-20 Carried forward

5.3
Communications campaign to promote the 

reduction and recycling of plastic waste.
All

Encourage residents to reduce consumption of single-use 

plastics, maintain high capture rates of plastic for 

recycling and minimise the amount of plastic materials 

within the residual waste stream.

Mar-20 Carried forward

5.4 Javelin Park communications. GCC
To ensure consistent and clear communications relating 

to the  operation of the facility.
Ongoing Carried forward

5.5 Continued promotion of real nappies. GCC

To provide information and support on the use of 

reusable nappies and to promote the uptake of the 

Gloucestershire Real Nappy voucher scheme.

Ongoing Carried forward

5.6
Continued support for home and community 

composting.
GCC

To provide information and support on home and 

community composting and continue to make home 

composting bins available for purchase by 

Gloucestershire residents.

Ongoing Carried forward

5.7
Promote garden waste collection schemes in 

all districts.

CDC, FoDDC & 

TBC

To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste collection 

services.
Jun-19 Carried forward

5.8
To build on the Love Your Forest anti-litter 

campaign.
FoDDC

To develop and deliver an action plan to work with the 

community to change behaviour and reduce littering 

across the district. Wherever possible, to share and apply 

learning across the partnership.

Ongoing

Carried forward. Could extend to 

wider street cleaning comms 

campaigns.

5.9
Support the roll-out of new waste and 

recycling collection services in Cotswold D.C
CDC

To provide clear and timely information on any changes 

and enhancements to collection services so that any 

disruption from the service change is minimised and 

recycling performance is maximised.

Oct-19 New

Communications and Behavioural Change

P
age 55



5.10

Review and update the Recycle for 

Gloucestershire branding and 

communications materials.

All
To provide attractive, modern communication channels to 

promote our sustainable waste management messages.
Mar-20

New - to consider a move to the 

new WRAP "Do/Does" branding 

and increase our social media 

offer.

6

6.10

Monitoring, reporting and continuous review 

of health and safety policy and practices of 

GJWC contractors and service providers.

ALL
To ensure safe working practices are in place and to 

establish common processes and best practice.
Ongoing Carried forward

Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations

P
age 56


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting -
	6 Residual Waste Treatment Directions and Waste Transfer Update
	7 Tipping Away Consultation
	181204 App 1 Waste Tipping Away policy consultation

	8 Cotswold District Council Service Review
	9 Management Accounts Monitoring Report
	10 Quarter 3 Performance Monitoring
	11 2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE AND DRAFT ACTION PLAN FOR 2019/22
	App 1  2 Action Plan Update
	App 3 Action Plan 2019 to 2022


